

Oversight and Governance

Chief Executive's Department Plymouth City Council Ballard House Plymouth PLI 3BJ

Please ask for Democratic Advisor T 01752 305155 E democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy
Published 31/05/23

TAXI LICENSING COMMITTEE

Thursday 8 June 2023 10.00 am Council House

Members:

Councillor Tippetts, Chair Councillor Tuffin, Vice Chair Councillors Finn, Haydon, Moore, Rennie and Tofan.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

For further information on webcasting, attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic process please follow this link - Get Involved

Tracey Lee

Chief Executive

Taxi Licensing Committee

AGENDA

I. Apologies

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Committee Members.

2. Declarations of Interest

Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this agenda.

3. Minutes (Pages I - 4)

To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 6 April 2023 and 25 April 2023.

4. Chair's Urgent Business

To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought forward for urgent consideration.

5. Appeal Cases

The Committee will be provided with the results of the judgement on appeal cases that went to Court.

6. Number of Certificates of Good Conduct Exemptions Granted

The Committee will be provided with the Number of Certificates of Good Conduct Exemptions Granted.

7. Request for delegated authority to deal with initial driver (Pages 5 - 18) applications with no Certificate of Good Conduct:

8. Exempt Information

To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 to exclude the press and the public from the meeting for the following items of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

Part II (Private Meeting)

Agenda

Members of the Public to Note:

That under the law, the Committee is entitled to consider certain items in private. Member of the public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed.

9. Confidential Minutes

(Pages 19 - 22)

To confirm the confidential minutes of the meetings held on 6 April 2023 and 25 April 2023.

- 10. Application for the Grant of a Private Hire Vehicle Licence: (Pages 23 32)
- 11. Application for the Grant of a Private Hire Vehicle Driver (Pages 33 44) Licence:



Taxi Licensing Committee

Thursday 6 April 2023

PRESENT:

Councillor Churchill, in the Chair. Councillor Haydon, Vice Chair. Councillors Rennie and Tofan.

Apologies for absence: Councillors Partridge, Singh and Tuffin.

Also in attendance: Steve Forshaw (Senior Enforcement Officer), Andrea Gilbert (Lawyer) and Hannah Whiting (Democratic Advisor).

The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 10.55 am.

Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may be subject to change. Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have been amended.

9. **Declarations of Interest**

No declarations of interest.

10. **Minutes**

The Committee <u>agreed</u> the minutes of 2 February 2023 and 2 March 2023 as a correct record.

11. Chair's Urgent Business

There were no items of Chair's urgent business.

12. Appeal Cases

There were no appeal cases.

13. Number of Certificates of Good Conduct Exemptions Granted

There were no Certificates of Good Conduct Exemptions to report.

14. Exempt Information

The Committee agreed to pass a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 to exclude the press and the public from the meeting from the meeting for the following items of business, on the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

15. Application for the Grant of a Restricted Private Hire Vehicle Driver Licence

Members agreed to grant the application for a restricted private hire driver's licence subject to the completion of the VRQ in "Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire" or its equivalent within 12 months of the licence being granted. Failure to complete may result in sanctions including the consideration of revocation of the licence.

(Please note, there is a confidential part to this minute)

16. **Confidential Minutes**

The Committee <u>agreed</u> the confidential minutes of the meetings of 2 February 2023 and 2 March 2023 as a correct record.

Taxi Licensing Committee

Tuesday 25 April 2023

PRESENT:

Councillor Churchill, in the Chair. Councillor Haydon, Vice Chair. Councillors Partridge, Rennie, Singh, Tofan and Tuffin.

Also in attendance: Sharon Day (Lawyer), Steve Forshaw (Senior Enforcement Officer) and Hannah Whiting (Democratic Advisor).

The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 10.47 am.

Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may be subject to change. Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have been amended.

17. **Declarations of Interest**

No declarations were made.

18. Chair's Urgent Business

There were no items of Chair's urgent business.

19. **Exempt Information**

The Committee <u>agreed</u> to pass a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 to exclude the press and the public from the meeting for the following items of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

20. Review Status of Private Hire Driver Licence - To Follow

The Committee having:

- (a) considered the report from the Director for Public Health;
- (b) taken the following into account: the law, policy and factual information contained in the report;

The Committee agreed to revoke the driver's licence as the driver was not considered a fit and proper person to hold a Private Hire Vehicle Driver Licence.

(Please note, there is a confidential part to this minute)



Taxi Licensing Committee



Date of meeting: 08 June 2023

Title of Report: Request for delegated authority to deal with initial driver

applications with no Certificate of Good Conduct

Lead Member: Councillor Sally Haydon (Cabinet Member for Community Safety,

Libraries, Cemeteries and Crematoria)

Lead Strategic Director: Dr Ruth Harrell (Director of Public Health)

Author: Nicola Horne

Contact Email: Nicola.horne@plymouth.gov.uk

Your Reference: PPS/LIC/NH/COGC

Key Decision: No

Confidentiality: Part I - Official

Purpose of Report

For Members of the Committee to review the number of cases considered under delegated powers in relation to COGC during the Municipal Year 2022 – 2023 and to consider whether or not to continue to authorise the Strategic Director of Public Health, in consultation with Chair and Vice Chair of the Taxi Licensing Committee and the lead Taxi Licensing Committee opposition member, to depart from the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022 and exempt applicants from producing a Certificate of Good Conduct from the relevant country, in exceptional, clear and compelling cases.

Recommendations and Reasons

It is recommended that Members consider the matters set out below and resolve to adopt one of the options:

Option I:

Continue to authorise the Strategic Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Taxi Licensing Committee and lead Taxi Licensing Committee opposition member, to depart from the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022 and exempt an applicant from the requirement to produce a Certificate of Good Conduct (COGC), in exceptional, clear and compelling cases as set out in the report

Option 2:

For the Strategic Director of Public Health to revert to the written Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022 process of bringing a report to committee for a decision to be taken on whether to depart from policy and exempt an applicant from the requirement to produce a COGC where the Strategic Director is satisfied that there are exceptional, clear and compelling circumstances in a particular case.

Reasons:

Option I:

Whilst the Strategic Director of Public Health has delegated powers to deal with taxi licensing matters, any decisions made under the delegation have to be made in line with the Taxi Licensing policy. However, the Taxi Licensing Committee may, having regard to all the information available, authorise a departure from its policy documents where there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons (Chapter I, paragraph 8.1 of the Taxi Licensing Policy). The Committee is asked to consider whether or not it wishes to continue to authorise the Strategic Director of Public Health to depart from the policy of requiring a COGC as part of the application process in exceptional, clear and compelling cases. By continuing to authorise this departure from policy would free up Committee and officer time in preparing for committee meetings, and would have the potential to provide the applicant with an earlier indication of whether they could continue with completing rest of the application process. The exceptional, clear and compelling reasons that are applicable to a departure from policy in these cases are set out in the main body to the report.

Option 2:

If the decision is made to revert to the Policy, this will mean that the Committee will have to make decisions on whether to authorise a departure from policy on a case by case basis with the Strategic Director of Public Health deciding on which cases to refer to committee that appear to have exceptional, clear and compelling reasons as to why they cannot satisfy the policy requirements for an application.

Alternative option

All relevant options are listed above

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan

This report links to the delivery of the City and Council priorities. In particular:

Unlocking the city's potential: By ensuring Plymouth: is a clean and tidy city and a green and sustainable city that cares for its environment; has a vibrant economy offering quality jobs and skills; is an exciting, cultural and creative city and has a varied, efficient and sustainable transport network.

Caring for people and communities: By ensuring Plymouth is a friendly, welcoming city, making sure people feel safe in the city, protecting children, young people and adults.

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:

Not Applicable

Financial Risks

None

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:

Not Applicable

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty:

* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council's duty to promote equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not.

Members should be aware that Section 17 of the Crime Disorder Act 1998 put a statutory duty on every Local Authority to exercise its various functions with due regard to the need to do all that it reasonably can do to prevent crime and disorder in its area.

Appendices

*Add rows as required to box below

Ref.	Title of Appendix	Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.								
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Α	Briefing report title									
В	Equalities Impact Assessment (if applicable)									

Background papers:

*Add rows as required to box below

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are <u>unpublished</u> works, relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the work is based.

Title of any background paper(s)	If some/o	Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.								
	ı	2	3	4	5	6	7			

Sign off:

Date approved: 31/05/2023

Fin	DJN. 23.2 4.33	Leg	IW – 26.05. 23 - 1042	Mon Off		HR		Asset s		Strat Proc	
Origina	Originating Senior Leadership Team member: Dr Ruth Harrell										
Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report? Yes											
Date a	Date agreed: 25/05/2023										
Cabine	t Membe	er appro	val:	5.	Hong	od.					

Report

BACKGROUND

- 1. The Council cannot grant a licence to a hackney carriage or private hire driver, or a private hire operator unless they are satisfied that the applicant is a 'fit and proper person'. The overriding aim of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing regime is to protect the public.
- 2. The main consideration in reaching a decision on whether an applicant is a fit and proper person is the consideration of any criminal convictions, cautions or conduct. This information is obtained through a DBS certificate. However, where a person has resided outside of the UK for a period in excess of 3 months, a DBS certificate will not account for any convictions received in that time. Therefore, any applicant who has resided outside of the UK that period since the age of 18 years old, is required to produce a Certificate of Good Conduct (COGC).
- 3. The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022, specifies certain pre-requisite tests that must be completed before an application can be considered to be complete. The full list is set out in the Policy section below (see Chapter 2, paragraph 4.1). The Policy is clear that no licence can be granted until all these pre requisites have been successfully completed (Chapter 2, paragraph 1.4). One of those requirements relates to the production of a COGC where applicant for a driver licence, private hire operator licence or vehicle licence has lived outside of the UK for a continuous period of 3 months or more since the age of 18.
- 4. The Department of Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (Statutory Standards) were reissued on the 21 July 2020(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards).
- 5. These standards makes a number of recommendations and there is a section entitled 'Oversees convictions' on page 17 -18 which states:
 - 4.34 The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas, only foreign convictions that are held on the Police National Computer may, subject to the disclosure rules, be disclosed. Therefore, a DBS check may not provide a complete picture of an individual's criminal record where there have been periods living or working overseas; the same applies when an applicant has previously spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the UK.

It should however be noted that some countries will not provide a 'Certificate of Good Character' unless the individual has been resident for six months or more.

- 4.35 Licensing authorities should seek or require applicants to provide where possible criminal records information or a 'Certificate of Good Character' from overseas in this circumstance to properly assess risk and support the decision-making process. It is the character of the applicant as an adult that is of particular interest, therefore an extended period outside the UK before the age of 18 may be less relevant. As with all licensing decisions, each case must be considered on its own merits. For information on applying for overseas criminal record information or 'Certificates of Good Character' please see the Home Office guidance.
- 4.36 Where an individual is aware that they have committed an offence overseas which may be equivalent to those listed in the annex to this document (Annex Assessment of previous convictions), licensing authorities should advise the applicant to seek independent expert or legal advice to ensure that they provide information that is truthful and accurate.

- 6. The Home Office guidance (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants) has been issued by the Government specifically on how to obtain overseas criminality information for use when considering the requirements of the UK Immigration Rules. It is clear that this information cannot be obtained from all countries.
- 7. Neither publication mentions how to deal with applications from asylum seekers, refugees or others who are not able to obtain COGC's where, for example, contacting their embassy or other official agency would put them or their family in some form of danger.
- 8. The Taxi Licensing Team have sought further advice from the Home Office Immigration Team who have advised that if an applicant has refugee status, then they would be considered as stateless by the UK and no longer able to gain assistance from their embassy. In some cases, people are granted refugee status on the basis of state persecution so would have additional reasons not to contact the embassy. Likewise their embassy would be unwilling to provide a COGC if the individual had left the country on the basis of state persecution. In any event, if an individual is a refugee, the Council cannot request the person to attend their embassy.
- 9. The Council has recognised in its policy that some applicants may have difficulties in obtaining a COGC (set out in Chapter 2, paragraph 7.2 of the policy) in that an exemption from providing the COGC is granted to an applicant where:
 - There is no process for obtaining a COGC from a country (As set out in Home Office guidance), and
 - The applicant has lived in the UK since 18 years old, and
 - Has been resident in the UK for a period of five continuous years
- 10. However, this does not address the situation that applies to asylum seekers or refugees, for example, who very often arrive in the UK after the age of 18 years old.
- II. In the previous municipal year, the Taxi Committee made a decision to delegate the Strategic Director of Public Health authority to depart from policy as per Chapter I, paragraph 8.1 of the Taxi Licensing Policy, referred to above for the municipal year.
- 12. In the last municipal year, to put into context the numbers of cases considered, 7 cases in total have been considered using delegated powers, 5 of which were granted and 2 of which were refused.

CONSIDERATIONS

13. In order to address the situation, the committee is being asked to consider two options:

Option I:

Any decision made by the Strategic Director of Public Health under their delegated powers has to be made in line with the Taxi Licensing policy. However, the Taxi Licensing Committee may, having regard to all the information available, authorise a departure from its policy documents where there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons (Chapter I, paragraph 8.1 of the Taxi Licensing Policy). Therefore, if the Committee wish for the Strategic Director of Public Health to continue to make decisions to allow an applicant to continue with their application without a requirement to produce a COGC, the Committee would need to authorise the Strategic Director to depart from policy as per Chapter I, paragraph 8.1 of the Taxi Licensing Policy, referred to above, for this municipal year. Authorising this departure from policy would maintain the current approach and continue to free up Committee and officer time in preparing for committee meetings, and would

have the potential to provide the applicant with an earlier indication of whether they could continue with completing rest of the application process.

The exceptional, clear and compelling reasons that would be that an applicant has spent the majority of their adult life in this country (including five continuous years immediately prior to applying for the licence), cannot obtain a COGC from the relevant country (for example, they are an asylum seeker or a refugee) and the DBS will provide information covering a sufficient period of their adult life to allow a determination on the applicant's fitness and propriety to be made. This would apply to cases where anything on the COGC would be so long ago that it would be highly unlikely to be relevant to any fit and proper considerations or the COGC is only likely to reveal juvenile/youth convictions which are of lesser relevance according to paragraph 4.35 of the Statutory Standards.

The basis for suggesting that the exemption only applies to those who have resided in the UK for the majority of their adult life is that this would mean that the DBS is likely to provide sufficient information for a decision to be made on their fitness to be a licensed driver in that it will cover the largest part of their adult life. Requiring an applicant to have resided in this country for five continuous years prior to applying for the licence is in line with the current exemption for providing COGC set out in paragraph 7.2 of the policy.

It is acknowledged that proceeding in this way will mean that there is a period of years in the applicant's life in which the Council will not have information on any convictions they may have received. Therefore, the Committee would need to consider whether public safety can be maintained by allowing an opportunity for a licence to be granted to somebody where there is no mechanism to establish whether or not they have any criminal convictions that would conflict with the convictions policy for a period of their life. Whenever a decision of this type is being made the decision maker must ask themselves, whether they are able to be satisfied (as per the statutory duty) that a person is fit and proper when they cannot assess whether an applicant has any convictions for that period.

If the Committee were to adopt this option, an annual report would be brought to committee detailing the number of exemptions granted for the preceding year and seeking renewal of the delegation for another municipal year. In addition where a decision is taken under option I it will be reported to the next available committee meeting.

Option 2:

To follow the policy whereby the Strategic Director of Public Health assesses each case and where satisfied that exceptional circumstances exist, prepares a report for the Taxi Licensing Committee to consider whether to depart from policy and allow the applicant to continue with their application without the necessity to produce a COGC. The considerations that apply to committee decisions made in this way are the same as laid out in the preceding paragraph.

- 14. If the committee is minded to grant the authorisation to depart from policy, it should be noted that any decision to accept an application as valid without the COGC will not involve any consideration of the suitability of the applicant to hold a licence.
- 15. If a determination was made to exempt an applicant from producing a COGC, Officers would continue to process the application in the same way that any other application would proceed. Should anything be revealed on the DBS check then the matter would be referred back to the committee for a determination in the usual way.
- 16. There would be no right of appeal to the Magistrates' Court against the decision, as it is not a decision to grant or refuse the licence under S.9 Plymouth City Council Act 1975.

17. As accepting an application without there being a COGC is a departure from policy, it follows that there is no criteria recorded in the current Policy on which such a determination could be made. Therefore, Appendix A to the report sets out the factors that are deemed appropriate to be considered in taking such decisions. If the committee is minded to grant the authorisation, then these criteria will be applied in each applicable case.

POLICY

Chapter One

Statement of Policy

3.0 Purpose of this Policy

- 3.1 The policy will provide a framework that will assist in delivering a safe, regulated hackney carriage and private hire licensed trade. The Council, in adopting this policy recognises both the needs of residents and visitors to expect a safe, healthy, convenient and effective hackney carriage and private hire transport service.
- 3.3 The Council in its decision making will consider each case on its own merits, having regard to the requirements of this policy, any relevant specific policy documents, national best practice guidance and any other information considered relevant.

4.0 Licensing Objectives

- 4.1 The Council will carry out its hackney carriage and private hire licensing functions with a view to promoting the following licensing objectives:
 - I. Safety and health of drivers and the public
 - 2. Vehicle safety, comfort and access
 - 3. Prevention of crime and disorder and protection of consumers
 - 4. To encourage environmental sustainability
 - 5. Protection of children and other vulnerable persons from harm
- 4.2 As a guide, in promoting these objectives the Council will consider the following matters:

Safety and health of drivers and the public

- Consideration of history of convictions and cautions
- Driver training, qualification and performance
- Knowledge of Plymouth

Prevention of crime and disorder and protection of consumers

- Vetting, qualification, training and monitoring of licensees
- Commitment to work with the police and other relevant agencies

Protection of children and other vulnerable persons from harm

- Training to cover issues such as disability awareness, safeguarding, etc.
- Criminal records checks, police records or information held by any other agency

8.0 Departure from this Policy

8.1 In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions in respect to taxi licensing, the Council will have regard to its relevant policy documents. Notwithstanding the content of this policy, each matter will be considered on its own merits. Where there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons the Taxi Licensing Committee may, having regard to all the available information authorise a departure from its policy documents. Reasons for any deviation from policy will be recorded in decision making

CHAPTER 2

DRIVERS

- 1.2 The Council may issue a licence provided the applicant has held a full driving licence for at least 12 months and is a 'fit and proper' person.
- 1.5 In determining whether a person is 'fit and proper' to hold or retain a driver's licence, the Council will consider relevant skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications, spoken and written English, medical fitness, criminal record, motoring endorsements, an understanding of local byelaws and conditions of licence, enhanced training requirements, the Code of Good Conduct and any other information thought to be relevant.
- 1.6 These requirements apply to new applicants and existing licence holders

4.0 Driver Qualifications, Skills and Knowledge

4.1 Pre-requisites

Before an application for a drivers licence can be approved, the individual must have passed the:

- a) Medical (see 5.0)
- b) Submit an Enhanced DBS and Certificate of Good Conduct (if required) (see 6.0)
- c) Topographical Knowledge of Plymouth (KOP) test
- d) Driving Standard's Test (DST)
- e) Spoken English Test (if applicable)
- f) Safeguarding training
- g) Plymouth Ambassador training.

These pre-requisite tests are an essential part of the application process that ensures an applicant has the appropriate baseline skills to function as a licensed driver in the City of Plymouth. The licence application is not considered to be completed until all of the above elements have been provided. Please refer to the flow chart overleaf.

7.0 Certificates of Good Conduct (COGC)

- 7.1 The Council recognise there are occasions when an enhanced DBS disclosure will not achieve its aim, for example, where the applicant has resided in this country for a short period of time. In these cases the Council require all applicants to obtain a Certificate of Good Conduct from the relevant UK embassy or consulate, authenticated, translated and sealed by that embassy or consulate, which accounts for all periods (in excess of 3 months) that they have not been resident in the UK.
- 7.2 If you have lived outside of the UK for a continuous period of 3 months or more since the age of 18 you must obtain a certificate of good conduct from the country or countries that you have lived in.

The certificate must be less than 3 months old at the date of the application.

However, if you are unable to provide a certificate of good conduct due to there being no process for obtaining criminal record certificates from the home country authorities (as set out in Home Office guidance), and you have lived in the UK from the age of 18 years and have been resident here for 5 continuous years you will be exempt from provision of this certificate.

Where an applicant has resided in this country for more than 3 months, they are also required to apply for an enhanced DBS disclosure, at the time of application.

Any costs associated with obtaining a Certificate of Good Conduct are the responsibility of the applicant.

GUIDANCE ON RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS AND CONDUCT 2.0 DRIVERS

- 2.1 The Council cannot grant a drivers licence unless they are satisfied that the applicant is a "fit and proper person" to hold a hackney carriage or private hire drivers licence. Once a licence has been granted, there is a continuing requirement that the driver remains a fit and proper person, and if they fall below the required standard, the licence can be suspended or revoked.
- 2.2 To be a "fit and proper" person means that they must be "safe and suitable" to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. The overriding consideration for the Council is to protect the public. The licensing regime is intended, among other things, to ensure so far as is possible that those licensed to drive vehicles are safe and suitable persons to do so, namely that they are: "...safe drivers, with good driving records and adequate experience, sober, mentally and physically fit and not persons who would take advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers."

(Lord Bingham in McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council [1998] 3 All ER 889

2.3 Having considered and applied the appropriate guidelines, the following question should be asked: "...Would you (as a member of the Licensing Board or other person charged with the ability to grant a hackney carriage/private hire driver's licence) allow your daughter or son, granddaughter or grandson, spouse, mother or father, or any other person you care for or any vulnerable person you know, to get into a vehicle with this person alone?.."

(Paragraph 10.21 Button on Taxis – Licensing Law and Practice; Fourth Edition; Ed Bloomsbury Professional)

- 2.4 If the answer to this question is an unqualified yes, then a licence will normally be approved. If there are any doubts in the minds of those making the decision, then the licence must be refused, suspended or revoked. It is the responsibility of the applicant or existing driver to satisfy the Council they are a 'fit and proper' person.
- 2.5 In deciding whether an applicant or existing licensed driver is a 'fit and proper' person the Council will consider the overall character of the person, and in doing so will take the following factors into account (this is not an exhaustive list):
 - relevant skills
 - knowledge
 - experience
 - qualifications
 - spoken and written English
 - medical fitness
 - criminal record
 - motoring endorsements
 - good conduct
 - any other relevant information

2.6 Refusal, revocation or suspension of a licence is not to be considered lightly. However, the licensing system is designed to protect the public and this is the overriding consideration. The drivers' livelihood and the impact of not being licensed (or any other action) on that livelihood and their family will not be taken into account when deciding if a person is fit and proper to hold or retain a licence. [Cherwell District Council v Anwar (2011)] [Leeds City Council v Hussain (2002)]

9.0 VEHICLE PROPRIETORS Safe and Suitable test

- 9.1 The objective of vehicle licensing is to ensure public protection. This is done by ensuring all vehicles are safe, and that anyone granted a vehicle licence pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious criminal activity.
- 9.2 All applicants must provide a Basic Disclosure from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) and list all unspent convictions on their application.
- 9.3 All vehicle proprietors, who are not also holders of a valid hackney carriage or private hire drivers licence granted by Plymouth City Council, must obtain a Basic Disclosure from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) every year.
- 9.4 The results of the DBS disclosure will be reviewed and any previous history of vehicle inspection and maintenance will be taken into account when considering an application or whether to review a licence.
- 9.5 To enable consistent and informed decision to be made, the Council will apply the following test: 'Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed vehicle that can travel anywhere, at any time of day or night without arousing suspicion and be satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be used for criminal or other unacceptable purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain it to an acceptable standard throughout the period of the licence?' (Paragraph 8.98, Button on Taxis Licensing Law and Practice; Fourth Edition; Bloomsbury Professional).

10.0 Private Hire Operators (PHO)

Fit and Proper Test

- 10.1 The aim of the licensing regime is to protect the public. It is therefore important to ensure that anyone granted a licence poses no threat to the public and has no links to serious criminal activity.
- 10.2 Under S.13 of the Plymouth City Council Act 1975, the Council cannot grant a PHO licence unless they are satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence.
- 10.3 PHOs are not an exempt profession under the provisions of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 and therefore, the Council can only take account of convictions which are not spent under the provisions of that Act, when deciding if they are fit and proper (or safe and suitable) to hold a licence.
- 10.4 All applicants (including for renewal of a licence) must produce a Basic DBS disclosure certificate.
- 10.5 All existing Private Hire Operators must produce a Basic DBS disclosure certificate annually.
- 10.6 If the Operator/applicant) has lived outside of the UK for a continuous period of 3 months or more since the age of 18, then they must also obtain a certificate of good conduct from the country or countries that they have lived in.
- 10.7 The results of the DBS disclosure and any previous history of as a PHO will be taken into account when considering an application or whether to review a licence.
- 10.8 If you are already a licensed hackney carriage or private hire driver, the Council will rely on this fact when considering if you are a suitable to hold a PHO licence.
- 10.9 When determining an application or when reviewing a licence, the Council will apply the following test to ensure consistent and informed decisions are made: 'Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a business that knows where any licensed vehicle is travelling, at any time of day or night and be satisfied that he/she would not allow the business to be used for criminal or other unacceptable purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain their records to an acceptable standard throughout the period of the licence?'.

APPENDIX A

DECISION TO EXEMPT APPLICANT FROM REQUIREMENT TO PRODUCE CERTIFICATE OF GOOD CONDUCT



Name of Applicant:	
Date of Application:	
Country of Birth:	
Date of Birth:	
How long did the applicant resided outside of the UK?	
How old was the applicant when they lived outside of the UK?	
(For example, have they spent the majority of their adult life within the UK and, as such, a DBS alone will account for a sufficient period of time to allow the Council to be satisfied that they are fit and proper to hold a licence)	
How old was the applicant when they arrived in the UK?	
How many of the applicant's adult years has been spent in the UK?	
How many years of their adult life would be unaccounted for on a DBS certificate?	
Given the length of time that a person has lived in the UK, how relevant would any convictions be to a determination of fit and proper? (For example, is it only likely to reveal juvenile convictions?)	
Note: The Statutory Standards, section 4.35 states that it is the character of the applicant as an adult that is of particular interest, therefore an extended period outside the UK before the age of 18 may be less relevant. As with all licensing decisions, each case must be considered on its own merits	
How far outside the Council's police relating to the COGC requirement is the applicant?	I. Is there a process for obtaining a COGC from the relevant country? 2. Was the applicant 18 years old when they arrived in this country? 3. Has the applicant lived in the country for a continuous period of five years?



Agenda Item 9

The following relates to exempt or confidential matters (Para(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Govt Act 1972). An breach of confidentiality could prejudice the Council/person/body concerned & might amount to a breach of the councillors /employees codes of conduct.



The following relates to exempt or confidential matters (Para(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Govt Act 1972). An breach of confidentiality could prejudice the Council/person/body concerned & might amount to a breach of the councillors /employees codes of conduct.



Agenda Item 10

The following relates to exempt or confidential matters (Para(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Govt Act 1972). An breach of confidentiality could prejudice the Council/person/body concerned & might amount to a breach of the councillors /employees codes of conduct.



Agenda Item 11

The following relates to exempt or confidential matters (Para(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Govt Act 1972). An breach of confidentiality could prejudice the Council/person/body concerned & might amount to a breach of the councillors /employees codes of conduct.

